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JESSE M. FURMAN, United States District Judge:

Plaintiffs Stone Key Partners LLC and Stone Key Securities Lib@ether,'Stone
Key”) are, together, a boutique investment banking firm. Pursuant to an Engagement Letter
dated April 20, 2012 (the “Engagememtter’), Stone Keywas retained by Defendalonster
Worldwide, Inc. (“Monster” or the “Companytd assist in “a review of strategic alternatives,
including the possible sale of the Company or the sale of an equity interest in tharngdm
(PX-28 (“Engagement Letter”), § 1 Monster agreed to pay Stone Key compensation in the
event that the Company entered into certain qualifying transactions. In thiStenig Key
alleges that Monster breached its agreement to make those paymeoasicular, Stone Key
alleges that it is owe$i8,890,596.00 in fedsr three different transactions: tB@13sale of
49.99% of Monstes interest in JobKorea (“JobKorea;lthe2015sale of Monstés remaining
interest in JobKore@lJobKorea II”), and the 2016 sale of the whole Company (the “Randstad
Transaction”) Stone Key also seeks reimbursementbr,339.01 in expenses.

The Court held a thregay bench trial from June 25 to 27, 2018, with direct testimony

taken from most witnesses by a#idt. As trialand oral argumenmhade clear, whether Monster
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breached its obligation to pay Stone Key fees pursuant to the Engagement Liettargaly on
whether the contract was completed before any of the transactions at issuad¢eokqr the
reasons that follow, the Court finds that Stone Kehed to prove, by a preponderance of the
evidencethatthe Engagement Letteemained open after August 1, 2018follows thatStone
Key is clearly barrethy the terms of the partiesbntractfrom recovering fees for JobKorea Il
and theRandstad TransactionlobKorea I, howeveposes a closer question becatise
transactioroccurred within a ongear tail periocestablishedy the Engagement Letter. The
Court finds, however, that Stone Key candaim a fee for JobKoreaglther,for two
independenteasons: firsthecausehe transaction did not qualify as'Partial Sale Transaction”
within the meaningf theEngagement Letter; and secohdcausehe applicableprovisionof
the Engagement Letter is an invalid and unenforceable agreement to agree. Thi®&ourt
conclude, however, that Monster owes Stone Key $37,267.50, plus 9% prejudgment faterest,
out-ofpocket expenses incurredder the Engagement Letter.
FACTUAL F INDINGS

Pursuant to Rule 52(a)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Courttimakes
following findingsof factbased on th&estimony and exhibitattrial.! The Coursets forth
certain additional findings of fact in the context of its lemy@lysis below.
A. The Engagement Letter

Stone Key is a small investment banking firm that was founded in 2008 by Michael

Urfirer and Denis Bovin, who worked at Bear Stearns until its collap$eirgr Aff.  8;

1 The Court ruled on many of the partiebjections to testimongnd exhibits at trial and
reserved judgment on others. To the extentttteak was an unresolved objection to testimony
or evidence that is relevant to the Cosignalysisthe Court resolves the objection below. The
Court need not and does not resolve the remaining objections.
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lannuzzi Aff. 17-8; Bovin Dep. 9t0). Monsteris apublicly traded company, today owned by
Randstad Holding NV (“Randstad”), which is known primarily for operatiegonline
recruiting and employment website www.monster.coBX-110; lannuzzi Aff. { 3YatesAff.
113, 6. Salatore lannuzziwho served a€hief Executive Officer of Monster from April 2007
to November 2014, and Timothy Yated)o served a&@mong other thingshief Financial
Officer of the Company from June 2007 to January 2011 andxhierh Executive Officer from
November 2014 to November 2016, had done work with Bovin when B@asrat Bear Stearns
and, based on that relationship, helped Stone Key get off the ground when it was founded.
(lannuzzi Aff. 1 3, 6-10Yates Aff. 113, 6, 8-12). Most significantly Monster provided Stone
Key with office space at the CompdayNew York offices (initially free of charge), and engaged
the new bank to assist with the acquisition of another job searchlai@uZ£zi Aff. 119-10).
On October 14, 2008, Monster and Stone Key also enterethenfost in a series of retainer
agreements pursuant to which Stone Key provided Monster with general finan@ahad
services. RX-2; PX-7; PX-9; PX-29; lannuzzi Aff. §11; YatesAff. § 10). The initial agreement
was for a period of one year, buhias renewed each yearough 2013. I¢.).

In early 2012, Monster was facingevere competitive pressutesd began to consider
a sale of the Company. (lannuzzi Aff. § 15; Yaéls  14; DX-5, at 1). In February 2012,
Monster invited Stone Key ar@ank of America Merrill Lynch (“BAML”), another investment
bank with which the Company had a relationshipnéke a presentation to MonsseBoard of
Directors about a potential “review of strategic alternativéBX-20; Yates Aff. § 1§. As
contempoaneous documents make clear, and witnesses at trial confirmed, the parties
contemplated that the “review of strategic alternatives” wouldalggtoximatelysix to twelve

months and would encompass either a sale or a partial sale of the Confee¥atés Aff.



1 18; lannuzzAff. 1 18; McVeighAff.  9;DX-9, at 1011; DX-15, at 10-11; Tr. 231-36, 376-
80, 430. A slide in the presentation to the Board of Directors also made clear that tle&/“rev
of strategic alternatives” could emdth a decision to “MaintainStatus Quo” (DX-9, at 10).
To signify that the feview’ could end without &aletransaction, the slide included an arrow
from “Maintain‘ Status Qud to the depiction of &STOP” sign. (d.).

Following the presentation by Stone Key and BAML, MonstBoard authorized
management to begin the review of strategic alternatives. (DX-8, at 6). Oh M&@12,
Monster publicly announced theview, (DX-10), and on March 5, 2012, the Company publicly
announced that it hadétained” Stone Key and BAML as financial advisors in connection with
the review. (PX22). Despite that announcement, it was not until April 20, 2012, thattktons
and Stone Kewctuallyformalized the engagement. On that date, the two companies signed an
extension of their general advisor retainer agreem@&X:29). More relevant here, however,
the parties also entered into the Engagement Letter, pursuant to which Mongsgele]”
Stone Keyto act jointly with BAML “as the Company financial advisor in connection with a
review of strategic alternatives, including the possible sale of the Compdrg/salé of an
equity interest in the Company.PX-28 (“Engagemenitetter’), 88 1-2). Four days later,
Monster signed a separate, but simieargagement letter with BAML.DX-20).

Pursuant tohte Engagement Letter, Stone Key agreed “to assist” with the following tasks
“to the extent requested by” Monster

(a) Review and analysis of the business, financial condition and prospects of the
Compaly and any Acquiror;

(b) Preparation of marketing materials concerning the Company and the T@ansagcti
(c) Preparation and implementation of a marketing plan;

(d) Solicitation of proposals from prospective Acquirors;



(e) Review of proposals raged from prospective Acquirors;

() Review and analysis of the structure and terms of a proposed Transaction from a
financial point of view;

(9) Negotiation and implementation of the Transaction; and

(h) Providing such other related services as magoregbly be requested by the Company
in connection with the Transaction.

(Id. 8 2). For its partMonster agreed to compens&t®ne Key, but only in the event af
qualifying “Transaction,” defined asahy transaction or series of related transactidmereby,
directly or indirectly, control of the Company, or control of at least a majority of its busfess
subsidiaries, divisions, operations or assets, is transferred by the Company and/oaitiés dfil
consideration.” Ifd. 8 2). More specifically, the Engagement Letter identified three types of
qualifying Transactions for which compensation would be due, two of which are relevant her
e a “Sale Transaction,” defined &s Transaction in which a majority of the voting
securites of the Company or all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and its
subsidiaries taken as a whole are transferraafd;
e a “Partial Sale Transactigrdefined to “include any Transaction involving the sale of a

material portion of the asseis operations of the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a
whole that does not constitute a Sale Transaction

(Id. & 3). In the event of the former, Monster agreed to pay Stone Key $1,925,000 upon signing
and an additional fee upon consummatbthesale (Id. 884(a), (b)). And inthe event ofthe
latter, Monsteragreed to paya fee in an amount equal to 55% of the fee that shall be mutually
acceptable to the Company and Stone Key and consistent with compensation agreements
customarily agreed toyimationally recognized investment banking firms for transactions of
similar size and complexity where there are twdinancial advisors.”(d. § 4(d)).

The Engagement Letter contained two other provisions relevant to the partresit
dispute. FirstMonsteragreed tdpromptly reimburse Stone Key, periodically upon request, for

all outof-pocket expenses reasonably incurred, invoiced and documented . . . in connection with



Stone Keys rendering its services under [the] Agreemenid’ § 5). And second, the
Engagement Letter providelat eithemparty could terminate the engagement “at any time” upon
written notice. (d. 8 6). Significantly, thasame clausalsoincluded a tail provision;
pursuant tavhich Stone Key would “continue to leatitled to compensation if a Sale
Transaction or Partial Sale Transactionth a party . . . with whom Stone Key or the Company
had substantive discussions with respect to” a Sale Transactamt@l Sale Transaction
“during the term of Stone Keg’engagement hereunder . . . is consummated prior to the
expiration of 12 monthafter any termination of Stone Key’s engagement hereundiet.y. (
B. The Reviewof Strategc Alternatives

Once Monstés Board approved the reviemm March 1, 2012, Stone Key aBAML
began workingvith Monster todevelop a list of prospective buyers daaatreatemarketing
materials, nordisclosure agreements, and information that woulthddeded in & virtual data
room” to assist with due diligence. (Urfir@ff. I 76; lannuzzi Aff. § 31)By late March2012,
Stone Key and BAML had begun an outreach campaign to potential investors and buyers.
(Urfirer Aff. 1 54). As of June 14, 2012, one or the other or both had contacted over eighty
potential purcharsand nordisclosure agreementad been executedth thirty-seven
prospective buyers. (PX-32). Preliminary bids for the Company ranged from $10 per share to
$16 per share.ld.). At or about the same timMonstefs Board had already begun to consider
alternative plans in case “the strategic alternatives process [did] not yieldtdhatswas in the
best interests of the shareholders.” (RX at 3). ThatAugust,Monster set September 10,
2012,as “the due date for fai bids from interestd parties. (DX-25, at 2).

In September 2012, Monster began earnest discussions with Symphony Technology

Group (“Symphony”) regarding a potential acquisitioblrfirer Aff. 71 81 PX-35; PX-36).



When Symphony’s bid came in too low, however, Monstgrated the offer and directed
Symphony to destroy all confidential materidUrfirer Aff. §82; PX-38). By January 20, 2013,
talks with Symphony ended conclusively when the parties couldgnee on a price(DX-32, at
4; lannuzzi Aff. § 39; Yates Aff. { 32).08n thereafter, Monst@nteredserious discussions
with Platinum Equity (“Platinury). (Urfirer Aff. § 86). By the end of April 2013, however,
lannuzzi, —Monstets CEOat the time— told Monsters Boardthat he thoughthe talkswith
Platinum would end soon, and tequested that the Board authorize a share buyback plan to be
implemented as soon #se talks did end(DX-42, at 3). On a May 2, 2013 earnings call,
lannuzzi disclosetb investorghat the Board had authorizedcha plan whichwould be
executed once conversations with prospective buyers ended. (DX-45, at 4-5, 12). Conversations
with Platinumdid end on May 21, 2013lafinuzziAff. 149; Urfirer Aff. § 87; Yates Aff. 38
Oneday later, Monster executedb200 million share buyback planagnuzziAff. §55), and on
July 18, 2013, the Compairjosed its virtual data roamDX-59). Onan August 1, 2013
earnings calllannuzzitold investorghat “active conversations with regard to the potential sale
of [Monster] [had] c[o]me to a conclusion.” (P20, at 4). lannuzzi acknowledgtthta buyer
couldalwayscome alongnd stated thd¥lonster was “prepared, in any point in time, to engage
in conversations.” I¢l. at 14). Nonetheless, lannuzzi made clear that Monster was not actively
pursuing a sale and had turned its attentionrtizfisively investigating, building and expanding
Monster's presendea the United Statesind overseas.”ld.). Most significantly, lannuzzi
announced that Monster hauaitiated the previously announcestharebuyback plan. I¢l. at 4).

There is little evidence in the record that Stone KeBAML did much work on the
review of strategic alternatives after the submission of final bids in Sept@®b2rJames

McVeigh, one ofMonster’'s main contacts at BAML during the reviévates Aff. 1 1%



McVeigh Aff.  14), testified that the work of Stone Keyounterpart, BAML, “had decreased
significantly” by the end of 2018nd that BAML was “no longer preparing marketing materials
or identifying potential new purchasers.” (McVeigh Af2@). Likewise, Yates testified that he
personally considered Stone Key’s engagement to have ended during the fall of 2012 because
“work . . . had stopped” by then. (Tr. 263-68Bovin testified that he had no recollection of
Stone Key performing any of the services identified in the Engagement Lettéviajt013.
(Bovin Dep. 118-19).Urfirer himselfadmitted thatafter May 2013, Stone Key’s daily work
under the Engagement Letter “dimiméxli dramatically eventually becoming “dormant,” and
that he could identify neervicesperformed by Stone Key under the Engagement Latter
August 2013. (Urfirer Aff. § 88-89; Urfirer Dep. 217}).is undisputed that Stone Key did not
perform any workvhatsoevefor Monster after April 2014, when Bovin resigned from Stone
Key. (Docket No. 57-1, Ex. 1 P1’s PCL), 130; Docket No. 58 Def.s PFF), 1107, Urfirer
Aff. 194). Neither Stone Key nor Monster terminated the Engagement Letter in writing.
C. The Job Korea Transactions and Sale of the Company

In December 201,3Vionstersolda 49.99% interest in JobKorea, a Korean subsidiary of
Monster,to H&Q Asia Paific, Ltd. (“H&Q") , a private equity fund that hdidst approached
lannuzzi about investing in JobKorea in March 2013X+40; DX-83). Negotiations between
H&Q and Monster took place over the course of July, resulting in a draft Memorandum of
Understading, the terms of whictvere presenteth Monster’'s Board the sanmonth (PX-65;
PX-68; PX-69). On that same dat®lonster signed new engagement letteaith BAML. (DX-
60). Under the new engagement letter, Monster agreealytBAML $2.5 million for afairness
opinion for JobKorea | anb reimburse BAML for services it had provided to Monster as its

primary commercial lenderDX-60; lannuzzi Aff. 11 65-66; Yates Aff. § 51 heJobKorea |



transaction closed on December 19, 2013. (lannuzzi Aff; PX83). Stone Key did not work
on the JobKorea | transactideelf — though Urfirer testified that helieve[d]” the bank had
done some “valuation workhatMonster sed wherH&Q first inquired about a deal(Tr. 70).

Monsterannounced JobKorea | to the public on November 7, 2013, but by October,
Stone Key knewvihe transaction was close to findh an October 18, 2013 e-mail, Bovin
informed a number of Stone Key employedesluding Urfirer,that Monster was close to
“finalizing the sale of 49% of its Korea operations for $90 miliotG Kored — identifying
H&Q by the wrong name(DX-72). On October 31, 2018, Bovin told the Stone Key team that
Monster expeed to close JobKorea | within the week. (DX-75). Around this time, Bovin
congratulated lannuzzi on the deal. (lannuzzi Aff. § 70; Tr. 412). Notably, however, Stone Key
did not seek a febom Monster pursuant to the Engagement Lettehe timeof thetransaction
Indeed, Bovirtestified thathe and Urfirer did not evetiscuss seeking fee for JobKorea |
(Bovin Dep. 123, 125-26). Nor did either of them, or anyone else at Ston&Kewny steps to
document belief that thdankwas entitledo a fee let alone calculate a fe€Tr. 72-73.

In November 2014, Yates took over as CEO of Monster. (Yates Aff. § 6). Monster and
Stone Key hadbeen out otontactsince April 2014, when Bovin resigned from Stone Key, and
no one at Stone Kayade ag effort to contact Yates when he took over as CBQfirer Dep.
222-23; Hubbard Dep. 173). Then, in 2015, H&Q expressed interest in buying Menster’
remaining sharef JobKorea*JobKorea 11”). (DX-88). In July 2015Monsterengaged
Evercore — another investment bank, to which Bovin had decamped in April 2014, after a
falling out with Urfirer— paying it$1 million for JobKorea Il and for services Evercore was
already providing Monster(DX-89; Yates Aff. § 57 Bovin Dep.158). Monstersoldthe

remaining 50.01% of JobKorea to H&Q on October 13, 20Yates Aff.  55DX-94). tis



undisputed thabtone Key did absolutely no work on the JobKorea ttansaction (Tr. 83).
Once again, Stone Key did not sedk@from Monsteat the time.(Tr. 81-82). And once
again, there is no contemporaneous documentation within Stone Key rgftbetitJrfirer or
anyone else there believed that the bank was entitled to a fee for the trangécttiangd3).

Soonafter JobKorea |IMonsterbegan taconsidera sale othewhole Company. Unlike
in 2012 and 2013, Monster decidaghinst engaging in “a process in which the potential sale of
Monster were actively, openly and widely pursued,” and indielied inquiries informally.
(PX-145, at 2). On August 9, 2016, Monster announced a merger agreement pursuant to which
Randstadgreed to acquire all of Monsteputstanding shares at $3.40 per share. (PX-98). The
deal closed on November 1, 2016. (DX-116). Within hours of the deal being anndurited,
had contacted his attorney about the RandBtadsaction (Tr. 54-56). And two daylater,
Stone Key sent Monster a letter demandmgsuant to the Engagement Lettefee of
$2,949,375 for the Randstad Transacti¢pX-103). The claim was reiteratedl@tters sent in
SeptembeR016 and mid-February 2017DX-109 DX-113; DX-117). In its mid-February
letter, Ston&Key addedanadditional demanébr feesrelating tothe 2013 and 20130bKorea
transactionsas well as for expenses allegedlyedunderthe Engagement LetteDX-117). In
total, Stone Key demanded $8,890,596 in fees and $47,339.01 in expenteStone Keys
demandetters Monster and Stone Key had not been in contact since April 2014, when Bovin —
Monster’s primary contact- had departed Stone KeyPX-85; Urfirer Dep. 222-23).

LEGAL STANDARDS

The applicable legal standards, derived fidaw York law are well established and

undisputed.(SeeDocket No. 83, Ex. 1, § 1). “Under New York law, a plaintiff bears the burden

of proving a breach of contract by a preponderance of the evideMesld AB v. 3M C0969 F.
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Supp. 2d 360, 378 (S.D.N.Y. 2013)o establish a breach of coatt, a plaintiff must show
“(1) theexistence of an agreement, (2) adequate performance obtitract by the claimant,
(3) breach of contract by the accused, and (4) dama@tadt v. Fox News Network LLZ19
F. Supp. 2d 312, 318 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (internal quotation marks and alteratiotted). “[T]he
fundamental objective of contract interpretation is to give effect to thessquténtentions of the
parties.” Lockheed Martin Corp. v. Retail Holdings, N.§39 F.3d 63, 69 (2d Cir. 2011.he
“best evidenceof the parties’ intentof course, is the contract itself."Gary Friedrich
Enterprises, LLC v. Marvel Characters, In€16 F.3d 302, 313 (2d Cir. 2013).

In a dispute over the meaning of a contract, thedtiold question is whether thelevant
contract tems are ambiguousSee, e.g.Great Minds v. Fedex Office & Print Servs., [1886
F.3d 91, 94 (2d Cir. 2018)]A]mbiguity exists where a contract term could suggest more than
one meaning when viewed objectively by a reasonably intelligent person who has examined the
context of the entire integrated agreement and who is cognizant of the custmtiseg, usages
and terminology as generally understood in the particular trade or busiBes®iische
Landesbank v. Aladdin Capital Mgmt. LLE&92 F.3d 42, 53 (2d Cir. 2012) (internal quotation
marks omitted). By contrasicontract is unambiguous when it has “a definite anecjme
meaning . . concerning which there is no reasonablasis for a difference afpinion.” Orchard
Hill Master Fund Ltd. v. SBA Commc’ns Cqr@30 F.3d 152, 157 (2d Cir. 2016)Vhere a@erm
is ambiguous, a court may consider extrinsic evidencetrchine the partiesntent. Matter of
MPM Silicones874 F.3d at 796ee also Garza v. Marine Transp. Lines, J®861 F.2d 23, 27
(2d Cir. 1988).That evidence may include “any relevant course afidg and course of
performance. Meda AB 969 F. Supp. 2d at 378. “[T]he practical interpretation of a contract by

the parties manifested by their conduct subsequent to its formation for any caivisidlemgth of
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time before it becomes a subject of controversy, is entitled to great . . . wdigbnéy Entes.,
Inc. v. Finanz St. Honore, B,\Wo. 13CV-6338 (NG) (SMG), 2016 WL 7174650, at *6
(E.D.N.Y. Dec. 5, 2016)xee alsdPeter J. Solomon Co., L.P. v. Oneida I(t®Oneida IT'), No.
09-CV-2229 (DC), 2010 WL 234827, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 22, 2@10}he subsequent conduct
of the parties may be used to indicate their intent.”).
DISCUSSION

There is no disputthat Stone Kegatisfies thdirst two elements o breackof-contract
claim: (1) the existence af contract— namely, the Engagement Letter; and (2) Stone Key’
performance undehat contract Instead thedisputeis whetherMonster breached the
Engagement Letter by refusing to pay Stone Key fees and expemskgionto JobKorea I,
JobKorea l) and theRandstad Transaction. Monster argues that the Engagement Letter was
completed before any of tlleree transactions took plack.no relevantprovisions of the
Engagement Letteemainedn effect at the time ahe thredransactions, theNlonser could
not have breached the contract and Stone Key has no kme Key counters that tteavere
only two ways the Engagemehetter could have been completeitherthrough a Sale
Transaction or by written notice of termination. Because Monster never prowitties wotice,
Stone Key argues, the Engagemiegtter remained open until tiRandstad Transaction. Thus,
whether Stone Key is entitled to fees for either of the JobKorea transactionfRanttetad
Transactiorturns, at least in parthovhether the Engagement Letter was still in effect at the
time of those transaction#ccordingly, it is to that question that the Court turns first.
A. Whether and When Stone Keys Engagement Ended

It is undisputed that neither party ever terminated the Engagement Letter in writing

pursuant t&section6. At the same time, there is no dispute (or, at least, no longer any dispute)
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that the Engagement Letter could end in another way: through completion. [rretwead p
submissions, both parties appeared to acknowledge that written termination was not wWesyonl
the Engagemeritetter could end (Pl’s PCL § 29 (“Stone Key’s engagement could [] be
terminated upon written notice . [or] completed by the consummation of a Sale Transaction
and payment of Stone Keyfees.”);Def’s PCL | 11 (“[B]y limiting the scope of Stone Key’
engagement . . . the parties expressly agreed that the engagement could end wilefjocom
.....)). And at oral argument after trial, Stone Key explicitly concededdhm. p(Tr. 453-54).
That is for good reason, as the Engagement Letter itself expressly refers (inioconmitictan
indemnification agreement incorporated by reference into the Agreemétt termination,
modification, orcompletionof the engagement of Stone Key.” (Engagenhetterl5
(emphasis added))Additionally, New York precedent holdbat an agreement with a limited
purpose concludes when the pués which it was created endSeg e.g, In re Oneida, Ltd.
(“Oneda I'), 400 B.R. 384, 391 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2009) (noting that,equire written
terminationwhere a limiteeburpose contract has run its cousseuld “extend the scope of the
engagement” and “convert the [agreement] into an @meled advisory contrdgt

That said, the parties vehemently disagree with respect to what qualifies asetoamipl
of the contract. Monster claims that the contract was completed once the “revievegicstra
alternatives” for which Stone Key was hiregimeto an end — whetheor not Monster solthe
company or completed any transaction at &leeDef.’s PFF{ 55 (“Upon the conclusion of the
Review, whether successful or unsuccessful, Ston&skegagement under the Engagement
Letter would be completed.”$ee also id] 56; Tr. 480 (arguing that the parties involved did not
send a termination letter becausace the process ended without success, they believed the

engagement had ended)). Stone Key claims that the contract could be completathdtig
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sale of the company and [Monster’s] payment of [Stone {{dges.” (Tr. 454see also idat
454-56;Pl.’s PCL 1 25 ("Monster’'s engagement of Stone Key under the Engagement Letter
could not be deemed to have been completed before dfamsisummated a Sale Transaction
(as defined in the Engagement Letter) and paid Stone Key’s final invoice.”))isTbatStone
Key's view,the Engagement Letter remainggen until Monstewas soldand, until that point,
absent written notice, Monstezmained entitled to seek Stone Kegdviceand Stone Key
remained entitled to a fee in the case qtialifying transaction. (Tr. 461).

Monster plainly has the better of the argument. Fasg matter of laycourts have held
that a limitedpurpose engagement can end even if the project for which a party was engaged
does not end with a successful transacti®ee e.g, Argilus, LLC v. PNC Fin. Servs. Grp., Inc.
419 F. App’x 115, 119 (2d Cir. 2011) (finding that the parties’ relationship “came to anend . . .
when it became clear that the. proposal would not be acceptedThat is,a limited-purpose
contract— which the Engagement Letter indisputably was — ends when the purpose for which
it was entered endsSee Irre Dorrough, Parks & Cq.173 B.R. 135, 141 (Bankr. E.D. Tenn.
1994)(“The parties entered a contract with a finite duration: the debtor was to perfoputie
offering work, and once the public offering was completed, the contract endétil’) 185B.R.

46 (E.D. Tenn. 1995).As discussed belovstone Key and Monster entered the Engagement

Letterfor the purpose of pursuing a sale of the Company; nothitigatagreement required

2 Stone Key argudhat “as a matter of contract law,” completion required the complete

sale of the compamgnd payment to Stone Key. (Tr. 45@But the only caseited by Stone Key

for thatproposition iSOneidg which happened to feature a completed transaction but which by
no means held that a successful transaction (never mind a company’s sale) was tlag,only w
other than written terminatiotg complete a limiteghurposeengagement lettetfSee Oneida, |

400 B.R. 3840neida Il 2010 WL 234827. Notably, the Court@meida Iheld that the
engagemenherehad been completed following a “Restructuring Transaction,” even though the
parties’ egagementdtter contemplated treonsummatiorof a “Sale Transaction.'SeeOneida

I, 400 B.R. at 3870neida I} 2010 WL 234827, at *3.
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Monster toactually sell itself in order for thgursuit of a saléeo come to an endCf. Am. Inv. &
Mgmt. Co. v. Arab Banking CorgNo. CIV. A. 91-0040, 1993 WL 54601, at *4 (D.D.C. Feb.
18, 1993) (holding that where a written contract provided for a fee only in the case of a
successful transaction, no fee was due witetransaction proved successful).

Second, as a matter of common sense, the Engagement Letter could plainly end without
written termination or a successful sale of the Company. To see why that is, one peed onl
assume that Monster entered a Sale Tramgwsittirty yearsafter the parties entered the
Engagement Letter artdientyeight yearsafter the last contact between the parties (that is, to
change the date of the Randstad Acquisition from 2016 to 2042, but otherwise keep the facts of
the case the same)n such a scenario, it would be absurd to suggest that the parties’ contract
remained in effect— even without written notice -and Stone Key wisely conceded as much
during oral argument at the conclusion of the case. (Tr. 456-57). While wise, however, that
concession is also fatal to Stone Key’s argument that the Engagement Ldttesnzbanly
through written termination or a successful sale of the Company. That is, by conceding tha
Stone Key could not enforce the Engagement Letter twenty-eight géter the parties’ last
contact, Stone Key concedes that the contragtd be completed through some means other
than written termination or a successful sale of the Company. The relevantrythestio
becomes merely one of line-drawing ramely, degrminingwhenthe contract was completed.

Finally, and most significantlyMonstefs position is supported bgxtrinsic evidence of
the partiesunderstanding of “completion” — to which the Court may look because the meaning
of the term in the Engagement Letter is ambiguoGgeldef.’s PCL  7§arguing that the Court
must look to the parties’ course of dealing to establish when Stone &legagement was

completedl; Tr. 455 Stone Keyconceding that the meaning aiompletiori was not “spelled
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out” in theEngagement Letter)). rém the startthe parties plainly understood that Stone Key
was primarily engaged to advise Monster in connection with a sales process, tipalpgoal of
which was to sell the Companyhatwas the understanding of Bovin, who negotiated the
Engagementetter, (Bovin Dep. 39), andf Ryan Hubbard, a Stone Key vice president who “co-
guarterbacked” the strategic review on behalf of the bank and who spent sixty to sevety per
of his time onit. (Hubbard Dep. 10, 44, 46, 51). That was also the understanding of Monster’s
officers. At trial, Timothy Yates, who was Monster’'s Executive Vice President at the time the
Engagement Letter was signed, (Yates A\B), testified that “[tlhe major focus [of the process]
was on selling the whole company. The secondary focus was on finding a strategic buyer, which
could be #ected[sic] either through §private investment in public equitygr through in some
cases a partial sale transactioiTr. 287). And as lannuzzi testifief t]he thrust of everything
we did, everything we prepared was with regard to the sale of the entire company.” (Tr. 379)
Contemporaneous documentation suppidsunderstanding. In a list of sixgeven potential
investors and purchasers provided by Stone Key in early April 2012, just before the Engagement
Letter was signed, sixtiyvo were listed as prospective acquirefshe entire company, while
only thirteen were considered for a partial purchase of assets andwirtyr aprivate
investment in public equity(PX-25, at 23-26). By June 2012, twelve of the fifteen companies
thathadexpressed serious interest in Monster were seeking to acquire Mamsat@rholeand
the two parties with whom Monster had earnest discussions overuitse @ 2012 and 2013 —
Symphony and Platinum — were both interested in an acquisi{e¥32, at 2).

Additionally, extrinsic evidence makes clear that the parties understddtehaview
would be conductedn a limited timeline anchight end without a transaction. According to

McVeigh,BAML 's representativen the review of strategic alternatives, “maintaining the status
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guo was always an option for [Monster].” (McVeigh Aff.  $2g alsdlr. 251 (Yates testifying
that “dfferent people . . . put different odds on [the possibility] that the sale process was not
going to result in aade”); Hubbard Dep69 (noting that afioption in any strategic alternatives
review” is the “status quo,” where “management dtesmdertake a transaction acohtinues to
run and operate the business as it has been doing”)). Indeed, in an “illustrativedinteat
was part of itd~ebruary 28, 2012 presentati@Monstets Board Stone Key included the
possibility that Monstes Board would decidéo maintin the “status qud clearly indicating
that such a decision would bring the review to an end by drawing an arrow from that outcome to
the representation ofsop sign. $eePX-20, at 10see alsd®X-25, at 13describing the “pros”
and “cons” of “stayihg] the course”’).® Thetimelineas a whole showcasadorwardflowing
processheadingoward severgbotential completion points; nothing about it suggests that the
process might lie dormant and then restart, let alone cycle back through agsesampleted
stage. In fact, no document in evidence suggestsuch.

Over the coursef 2012 and the first half of 2013, the parties continuesigoal that the
process would unfold over a discrete periddmelines were reviewed, resolutgmere
discussed, and a due date for final hidsset. SeePX-143, at 3; DX-24, at 3; DX-25, at 2).
As potential bidders narrowed during the last half of 2012 and first half of 2013, first tadwo a
then to one, the parties began to anticipate the end of the process. In February 20d3ethe St
Key team proposed language for a Monster press release letting the market know tbdre coul

“no assurance that [the] strategic review process [woeddit in a tansaction.”(DX-34, at 1).

3 Urfirer tried to minimize the significance of the stop sign by noting that it was “oltside
the box containing the four possible outcomes of the strategic alternatives,rémi. 29), but

that is risible. Notably, Hubbabncurred that the stop sign signified that the strategic review
could end without a transaction. (Hubbard Dep.se®; alsdovin Dep. 44-45 (agreeing that
maintaining the status quo was an optjon)
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Significantly, the draft languageferenced twdalifferentpossible outcome$a specific
transactiori’ Stone Key’s draft stated, could be approved byBbard of the Directorer “the
review process [could be] concludedld.f. That thetwo were phrased in the alternative makes
plainthat Stone Key was well aware that the review process might “concluwd#jput“a
specific transaction.’In an earnings call three days later, lannuzzi informed investors that
Monster was “spending little additional management or financial regepnegursuit of’ the
review of strategic alternatives. (B85, at 4). And Stone Key anticipated at the time that the
process was winding down. When a new buyer approached Stone Key about Monster in March
2013,Hubbard wrote to Bovin andrfirer: “Between us, there is no chance MWW will engage
with a new buyer at this time ..” (DX-39, at 2). Bovin agreedlId( at 1). This is consistent
with Yates testimony that arounthis time Monster “knew the process was coming to an end”
and had instructed Stone Key and BAML “not to open up any new initiatives.” (T. 272
Lastly, the parties’ understanding that the strategic review could — and did —dm®nclu
without a sale is confirmed by the fact tkizd reviewdid concludewithout a saleand that
Monster, BAML, and Stone Key all accepted that conclusiomublds of the April 30, 2013
Board meetingtate that lannuzZindicated that while discussions regarding strategic
alternatives were ongoing, he anticipated that the conversatittnthe final interested party”
— Platinum— “would terminate shortly, thereby allowitfilglonster]to execute upon a stock
buyback plan.” (DX-42, at 3). A few days later, Bovin inforntieel Stone Key team that
askedJannuzziplanned tdell investorghat the‘process [wakcoming to an end, [with] no
assurance of a trargeon.” (DX-44;see alsdHubbard Dep. 111 (identifying the “process” as
“Project Marlin,” Stone Kels code name for the strategaview)). Further, when, on May 21,

2013, negotiations with Platinum broke dovins plain thatMonster and Stone Key enagylees
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both understoodhe review to be effectively oveHubbard emailed his colleagues[Project]

Marlin died today’ (DX-49;see alsdHubbard Dep. 115). And Bovin, lannuzand Yategin

his capacity aMonsters Rule 30(b)(6) witness) alestified thatthis was theiown

understanding at the timeSdeBovin Dep. 85 (as of May 21, 2013, “the strategic alternatives
process for Monster that we and Bank of America were conducting had ended or was in the
process of ending”JannuzziAff. 52 (“As of May 21, 2013, Monster’s publicly-disclosed
Review concluded without a transaction.”); Yates Dep. 64 (“[I]t is clearetohat the process
ended when the conversations with Platinum ended [on May 21, 9013Joreover, loth

Yates andannuzzitestified — credibly — that they had conversations with Bovin and Hubbard
around this timalerting them that Monster considered the sales process over and planned to do
no further work onit. (Tr. 269, 408-10). That testimony is corroboratéddweigh, BAML'’s
representativevho testifiedthat— on a date he could not remember, but clearly around May or
June 2013 —Yateshadcalled to tell him that the sales process was over, a conversation that
McVeigh considered “a formality,” because “[tlhere was nothiniggion” at the time. Tr.

428;see alsad. at 426-28,Yates Aff.q 22).

Any doubt that the strategic review — and, by extension, Stone Key’'s engagement —
had run its course is resolved by the parties’ conduct in the days, months, and eeairsggftthe
end of talks with Platinum on May 21, 2013. For instatievirtual data room,” which had
been established to enalpl@spectiveacquirergo conduct due diligence, was shut down on July
18, 2013. (DX-59see alsdBovin Dep. 108-09 (agreeing that it was customary to shut down a
virtual data room after a transaction had concluded “either successfully or unaulb¢gssf
And on May 22, 2013 — the very day after the Platinum talks end&tbnaster initiated the

$200 million shee repurchase prograthat the Board had authorized on April 30, 2013 and that
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Monster had, in its May 2, 2013 earnings call, announced would be implemented once
conversations with prospective buyers came to an @adnuzzi Aff.§ 55; YatedAff. | 42 DX-
42, at 3-4DX-45, at 4-5, 12).That step is particularly strong evidence of the strategic review
having come to a close, as insider trading laws effectively precluded Mawstearfinouncing
the buyback program while it was actively trying to find a buyer. (Tr. 403dr8towell Aff.
1 19;Bovin Dep. 8687; seealsoDX-45, at 4-5, 12 (lannuzzi stating, in a May 2, 2013 earnings
call that it would béinappropriate to execut®n the buyback program authorized by the Board
while conversations with prospective buyers were ongoing, but that Monster would do so when
the conversations ended)). lannuzzi formally announced the buyback program on August 1,
2013 telling investors that “active conversations with regard to the potential sile cbmpany
came to a conclusion during the second quarter which allowed Monster to pursue its pyeviousl
announced stock repurchase program.” (PX-70, at 4). Notably, financial analysts read thos
statements as confirmation that Monster’s strategic review had canestad. (DX-65 (stating
that Monster “threw in the towel on a 15-month effort to sell the company, a concheidradt
become apparent when [Monstbdgan repurchasing stock in Maysee alsdX-62; DX-63)4
Even more notablyStone Key employeesppear to have done the same, as they ceased regular
discussions with Monster about the salexpss. (SeeBovin Dep. 106; Hubbard Dep. 129).

The reaction of Urfirer and Bovin to news of the JobKorea transactions confirms that
they did not genuinely believe the Engagement Letter to be open. For one, Bovin called lannuzzi

to congratulate him on the deal at the tifl@nuzzi Aff. § 70; Tr. 412) — a strange thing to do

4 To be clear, the Court considers the statements of financial analysts as evideace of th
market’s reaction to Monster’s August 1, 2013 announcement, not for the truth of any matter
asserted.SeeFed. R. Evid. 801(c). Accordingly, Stone Key’s hearsayatigjes to those

exhibits are overruled.SeeDocket No. 83, at 19-30
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if he believed that the Engagement Letter was still open and that Stone Key wed tnétfee.
Even more tellingly, Stone Key did not demand a fee for JobKorea I; Bovin and Urfirer did not
even discuss Stone Key’s entitlement to a fee; and no one at Stone Key documentedhtedalc
what Stone Key’s fee fafobKorea | might be. (Bovin Dep. 123, 125-26; Tr. 72-73). In fact,
Stone Key did not seek a fee for JobKorea | until February 2017 — more than thresgftgears
the fact (SeeDX-117; Bovin Dep. 127-3QJrfirer Aff. § 111). Urfirer claims that Stone Key
decided to defer discussion ofeee forJobKorea | with Monster until “an appropriate future
date” becausef Stone Key'’s historic relationship with Monster dretausestone Keybelieved
thatBAML ’s feeunder its 2015 contcawith Monstemwas only $250,000. Urfirer Aff. §111).
But that explanation is incredible. Stone Key was in dire financial stralie &ibte of the
JobKorea | transaction, so it is hard to imagine that Urfirer and Bovin would havedielaye
seeking dee if they had genuinely believed they were entitled to o8eel}X-87; Bovin Dep.
141). At a minimum, they surely would have spoken to each other about their entitlement to a
fee or made an effort to either calculate, or document their entitlemenfe, Yet Urfirer
admitted thaStoneKey does not possess any contemporaneous documentation of such
communication. (Tr. 72-73, 83).

In short, the evidence is overwhelming thktof the participants in the strategic review
— Monster, BAML, and Stone Key itself — understood that the review, and thus Stone Key'’s
engagement pursuant to the Engagement Letter, could end without a sale or writteatitermi
More to the point, the evidence is overwhelming that all of those participantstoudethat the
strategic review, and thus Stone Key’s engagempersuant to the Engagement Lettéd come
to an end. Fixing the date on which the engagement ended is, of course, difficult given the

absence of a written termination letter or other discrete event. An arguroéhbe made (and
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Monster does make it, albeit weaklyr(481-82)) that the engagement ended/iary 21, 2013,
when Monsters discussions witRlatinumended, or May 22, 2013, when the Company
launched its stock repurchase program. But, without a doubt, the engagement had run its course
(as Monster argues more forcefulgf.'s PCL 1 15, 18see alsadlr. 481-82)) by August 1,
2013, when lannuzzi publicly announced that the stock buyback program had been launched.
There is no evidence in the record that Monster and Stone Key communicated abaigthe re
after that date, and, as noted, they ceased communicating altogether in April 2014pwhen B
left Stone Key.Cf.In re Persaugd467 B.R. 26, 40 (Bankr. E.D.N.Y. 2012) (finding that an
attorney and cliefg cessation of communications about an engagement and inaictithiir
relationshipfor a year demonstrated that the partieseustod the project had ended).

Thereis little contrary evidence in the record, and none of that evidence is persuasive
The principal evidence to the contrary comes from Urfirer, who testifiethéhatderstood that
the contract could be completed only with a successful sale (or wattemation) and thdte
therefore viewed it as in existence well beyond August 2013. (Tr. 130-31). The Court declines
to credit that sefserving testimony, sedon both the Cour$ assessment bfrfirer’s demeanor
in Court and a the fact that hisestimonyis belied by lis own conduct — for example, by the
fact that he made no effort to cont&tbne Key (let alone demand, calculate, or document that
he was owed a fee) when the JobKorea transactions were first announced; and that he did not
even make contact with Yates when Yates assumed the role of Monster’'s CEO in November
2014. Moreover, eveifithe Courtdid credit Urfirer’s testimony, his understanding of the
contract ignconsistent with the overwhelming evidence summarized above that Stone Key’s
engagement had run its course by August 1, 2013. That evidence includes the testimony of the

other principal participants in the relevant event®8ovin, Hubbard, McVeigh, Yates, and
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lannuzzi —all of whom have less of an interest in the outcome of this litigation than iUrfire
(and, in many instances, were more directly involved in the reviewnahd relevant
interactions between Monster and Stone Keyf)also includes scores of contemporaneous
documents —such as Board minutes, slide decks, anaadls involving Stone Key personnel —
reflecting an understanding that Project Marlin, the code name for the stratégyc, fead
“died” by August 1, 2013. [§X-49).

Other than Urfirer’s testimonynly twocategorieof evidence even arguably support
Stone Key’s position — and neither is enough to carry its burd@ba.first is a presentatipn
dated November 19, 2013, and prepared by Stone Key for Mostsiieng that “Monster is in
the final stages of its strategic alternatives review prat@ssvas initiated in March 2012.”
(DX-82, at 5). Significantly, however, that languagges inserted into the document as early as
July 2013 —when the strategic reviewasarguably in its “final stages.”S¢eDX-58). There is
no evidence that it camued to be in its “final stages” four months lat&dditionally, the
statement was made by Stone Key, not by Monstertreamnd is no evidence in the record that it
was eveshown torepresentatives dflonster. Finallythe statement is belied by thestimony
of the document’s author, Hubbard, who decldahed Project Marlirfdied” on May 21, 2013,
whenall viableefforts to sell the Compartyad been exhaustedSgeDX-49; Hubbard Dep. 44,
123). Stone Key seeks to minimize the significance of Hulassessment by dismissing him

as a “junior” banker at Stone Key. (Urfirer Dep. 30; Tr. 93). But, his relative dgraside,

5 The Court also declines to rely thre testimony of Plaintifé expert, Matthew Nimetz.

For oneNimetzfocusedalmostexclusively orthe issue of written terminaticand suggested
thatthe engagement between Monster and Stone Key could end only through written
termination,(seeNimetz Aff.  45),a position that Stone Key itself has disavowed, (Tr. 453-54).
For anotherNimetz reviewedery little extrinsic evidence seeTr. 169-80), rendering his
testimony of limited value in evaluating the scope of Stone Key’s engagement under the
Engagementettergiven the admitted ambiguity of the term “completion.”
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Hubbard was arguably more involved in the strategic review than anyone else at Stp@ed
Hubbard Dep. 46 (describingnfiself as the strategic review’s “cuarterback”)), and devoted
sixty to seventy percent of his time to the projessg(idat 5051), so his view carries weight.
Thesecond categoryf evidenceconsists okarlydrafts of a settlement agreement
exchangd betweetJrfirer and Bovin during Bovirs contentiousexit from Stone Keyn the
Spring of 2014 The drafts show that Urfirer suggested, and for a time Bovin accepted, that
Bovin could receive compensation from a “curreighed engagemdiit with Monster. PX-84,
at 5;seealsoPX-81, at 2;Urfirer Aff. 11 9596)° Notably, however, while the drafts specified
live projects associated with two otlergagement§General Dynamics (Project Atlas)” and
“QinetiQ (Project Zebedeg)they did not specify any particultonsterproject or
engagement, let alone identify “Project MarlinSePX-84, at 5). The import of Monster’s
inclusion in the settlement drafts is thus ambiguous. At most, it provesrtivat Proposed
adding a tail provision foa Monsterengagement during what both sides admit were acrimonious
negotiations. (Tr. 493-94rfirer Dep. 221).But Urfirer maywell have done so knowing or
thinking there would be no future income from any Monster engagemeihie nitay havedone
so purely speculatively (or because, as early as 2014, he anticipated the posiStonhdtey
would take in this litigation). Either wayrfirer’s inclusion of Monster in the draft settlement
does not reveal much $particularly in theface ofBovin’s unambiguousestimony thahe
understood th&ngagement Letter to have ended by August 1, 2013. (Bovin Dep. 93).
Admittedly, Monster has no good explanation for its failure to send a written téionina

notice to Stone Key —except thaall of the participants in the strategic review plainly viewed it

6 Bovin and Urfirer ultimately decided on a different compensation structurdithabt
include a tail provision for any Monster engageme8eeUrfirer Aff. § 96).
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as unnecessary (if they thought about it at all) because the engagement had mwsais@ee

Tr. 42628 (McVeigh describing a call from Yates notifying him that the review had terrdinate
as a “formality” because “[tlhere was nothing going on”); Tr. 262 (Yates statihehsever
considered sending written notice of termination)). The absence of such written rastice w
certainly a recipe for litigation, if only because it made it difficult taontdg precisely when

Stone Key’s engagement came to an end and the tail provision began. But the difficulty of
dating the engagement’s end does not mean that it did not end. To the contrary, the evidence
overwhelmingly shows that Stone Keysngagement under the Engagemiegtterdid end and

that it did sono later than August 1, 2018 follows that Stone Key is not entitled to fees for
either JobKorea Il or the Randstad Transaction, as both occurred well aftentract ended-
andwell after any conceivable tail period had its course But JobKorea | requires further
analysis because it closed in Decenf@t3, within twelve months of the end of the engagement
(whether the end is dated May 21, 2013 or August 1, 2013), and Monster (now) concedes that the
tail period set forth in Section 6 of the Engagement Letter was triggered by compldtien of
contract/ That is, because JobKorea | occurred within twelve months of August 1, 2013, and
Monster indisputably conducted substantive wkstons with its counterparty prior to that date
(seePX-65; PX68; PX-69), the completion of the contract does not answer the question of

whether Stone Key is entitled to a fee for that particular transaction.

! An argument could perhaps have been made that the tail provision appligdtboely
eventof written termination. In factMonster seemed to takleat paition in pretrial
submissions. SeeDef.’s PCL § 25,Def’s PFF § 59) At the conclusion of trial, however,
Monster concedethat the tail provisiompplied in the case of completiaithout written
termination as wel— a concession no doubt pnpted by the fact that every one ofaign
witnesses agreadlith that understanding of the tail provisio(ir. 481).
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B. JobKorea |

Although completion of the contract does not preclude Stone Key from recovering a fee
for JobKorea I, the Court concludes that the bank is precluded from doing so for atdeast t
other reasons. First, the Court concludes that JobKorea | did not qualify atia Sde
Transaction” wihin the meaning of the Engagement Letter. As n@edtion 3(c)of the
Engagement Lettatefines a “Partial Sale Transaction” as “any Transaction involving the sale of
a material portion of the assets or operations of the Company and its subdiakamess a
whole that does not constitute a Sale Transactidarigégemernitetter§ 3(c)). At oral
argument, Stone Key’s counsel conceded that Monst@ined operational control over
JobKorea after sellingl&Q Capitala minority stake in the compangr(at least that there was
no evidence in the record suggesting otherwise). (Tr. 466e@7alsalr. 363 (David Stowell,
Monster’s expert, testifying that Monster “owned the operations” of JobKorea baftbedtar
JobKorea I); Tr. 393-94 (lannuzzi nagithat Monster maintained “full operational control” of
JobKorea after JobKoreg)l)Hence, it cannot be said that JobKorea | involved the sale of a
material portion of theperationsof Monster and its subsidiaries let alone a material portion
of the gerations of Monster and its subsidiaries “taken as a whole.” (Engagemen8L3itgx.
Thus, to prove that JobKorea | qualified as a Partial Sale Transaction, &ypmeHlld have to
show that it involvedthe sale of a material portion of thesets . . of the Company and its
subsidiaries taken as a whél€ld. (emphasis added)). Stone Key failed to do so.

The Engagement Letter does not define what portion of assets would qualify as
“material.” In the securities fraud context, courts in thic@trhave “typically” used five
percent asthe numerical threshold . . . for quantitative materidlitpekalb Cty Emps. Ret.

Sys. v. Controladora Vuela Compania De Aviacion, S.A.B. de oV15CV-1337 (WHP),
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2016 WL 3685089, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. July 6, 2018)his case is not, of course, a securities fraud
case. Nevertheless, Stone Key identifiether legal standard by whichrteasure the

materiality of gportionof assets— and, in factreliesitself on securities fraud cases to argue

that the sale of 49.9% of JobKorsassets wasotimmaterial as a matter of lawDd@cket No.

57 (“Pl.’s PFF"), § 80). Accordingly, the Court will use that standard here. Mshagainst it,

the 49.9% stake in J&loreaplainly did not qualify as a “material portion” of the assets of
Monster and its subsidiaries because, as Monster’s expert Stapwiained that stake

constituted less than four percent of the Company’s “total asg&ivell Aff. § 38n.40("As

of the 3rd quarter 2013, total assets of JobKorea were $113 million, and 49.99% of this equals
$56,567,389. Total assets of the Company at the same time were $1.54 billion. $56.5
million/$1.54 billion = $3.7%.") see alsdX-70; Tr. 43031 (McVeigh explaing that he

viewed JobKorea | as separate from the Engagement Letter because JobKorea | was §a minorit
asset, a small asset, relative to the company”)). Stone Key’s only arguntenttmtrary is that
Monsters assetshould be measurextcording taheir fair market valuand that JobKorea |

was “greater than ten percent of the entegvialue of Monster.” (Tr. 467But Stone Key

provides no basis to conclude that the Engagement Letter’s reference to “assets” ntearg any
other than the standard accounting concept of “book valu#iatis, the assets that appear on a

balance sheet.SgeTr. 337 (Stowell describing the “book value” of assets)).

8 Stone Key also suggests that the transaction was “material” beébaws@nouncement of
JobKorea | fesulted ina oneday increase in Monster’s stock price in excess of 15§Rl.’s

PFF 1 79). But that argumensikegardghe plain language of the Engagement Letter, which
does not ask wheth#re transactionwas material, but whether it involvélge sale of a material
portion of the Company’assets (Engagement Ltr. 8 3(c)). Moreover, Stone Key did not
conduct an event studgoit is speculative to say that the increasstotk pricewas attributable,
let only entirely so, to JobKorea I. Finally, if JobKorea was as fundamerarster’s
business as Stone Key suggests, one would eipstdck to have dropped, not risafter
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Second, and in any evei@tone Key is barred from collecting a fee becdlse
Engagement Letter'$artial Sale Transaction” fggovision is an invalid agreement to agree.
Under New York law, “there can be no legally enforceable contract” where an agreesmeott “i
reasonably certain in its material term&€bdbble Hill Nursing Home \Henry & Warren Corp.

548 N.E.2d 203, 482 (N.Y. 1989 hus, “a mere agreement to agree, in which a material term is
left for future ngotiations, is unenforceableJoseph Martin, Jr., Delicatessen, Inc. v.
Schumacherd17 N.E.2d 541, 54I1N(Y. 1981). “A compensation term is not indefinite . . .
simply because it fails to specify a dollar figure or a particular compensatiounléotorbe
employed in calculating compensatiorBenevento v. RJR Nabisco, Indo. 89CV-6266
(PKL), 1993 WL 126424, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 1, 1993everthelessa price term may be
insufficiently definite where “the amount can[not] be determined objectively witheuneed
for new expressions by the partie€Cbbble Hill NursingHome 548 N.E.2d at 483When
compensation is calculated “with reference to industry standards or customsjrhi# piust
establish that the omitted term is fixed and invariable in the industry in quésBeneventp
1993 WL 126424, at *7 (citinglutner v. Greeng734 F.2d 896, 900 (2d Cir. 1984) (imtel
guotation marks omitted)).

Applying those standards here, the Court concludes that the Engagement Lettiai’s Par
Sale Transaction fee provision is unenforceable. That provisi@eetion 4(d}— stateghat in
the eventof aqualifying transaction, Monster will pay Stone Key “an amount equal to 55% of
the fee that shall bmutually acceptabléo the Company and Stone Key and consistent with

compensation agreemsraustomarily agreed to by nationally recognized investment banking

Monster announced the sale of a 49.9% stake in the subsidéegDdcket No. 751 (“Def.’s
PCL Response”), 105).

28



firms for transactions of similar size and complexity where there are tfinarwial advisors.”
(Engagementetter 8§ 4(d)(emphasis addel) By its terms, therefore, the provisicalls for a
“new expressiof}” by the parties in the event of a qualifying transacti@obble Hill Nursing
Home,74 N.Y.2d at 483. Moreover, it “contains no methodology, formula, or external measure
by which the Court might objectively determine the compensation to be gakM Advisors,

Inc. v. Corporacion Sidenor, S,A67 F. Supp. 2d 308, 326 (S.D.N.Y. 2Q0%hat “vagueness

is fatal” to Stone Key’s claim with respect to JobKored&dl.at 327 see also idat 326(reaching
the same corhgsion with respect to a compensation provision providing that the plaintiff's fee
“shall be mutually agreed” between the parties “in an average range of 2.@¥eeach
Transaction Value”)Beneventp1993 WL 126424, at *6 (reaching the same conclusion with
respect to a compensation provision calling for a “mutually agreed upon” fee detkfmine
accordance with or “with reference tg “comparableinvestment banking standard&iternal
guotation marks omitteyl)

That canclusion is reinforced by other evidence in the record. At trial, witnessestfor b
sides agreed that Section 4(d) would call, in the first instance, for a “fee—+am’ analysis of
publicly available investment banking fees for comparable “precedersaictions.” $eelr. 84-

91, 347, 353-54, 432-34). As Stone Key’s own arguments reveal, however, there is no “fixed
and invariable standard” for conducting a fee rBeneventpl1993 WL 126424, at *{internal
guotation marks omitted). Stone Key used publicly available investment bde&sfpr
transactions between $50 million and $100 million announced between January 1, 2009 and
December 31, 2013PX-113, at 13-18).Stone Keythen proceeded to consider only the top two
guartiles of those fees anaithin those top two quatrtiles, transactions from the mean fee amount

(as opposed to the minimum fee amount) to the maximum fee am@edd.(at 13;see also
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Docket No. 811 4). After doing that, Stone Key added a 25-5@%@advisor premium to the
implied transaction fee. (RX13, at 1011). In doing so, however, Stone Key made a number of
subjective choices- for example, to consider fees for transactions between $50 million and
$100 million,to consider justsome rather than all quarsig¢o take the mean to maxirm fees

and to exclude the minimum, and to add a particular premium. Urfirer sought to justify those
choices— for instance, he testified that he took the top two quartiles based on the history of
Stone Keys relationship witiMonster andhat headdeda ceadvisor premium of 25-50% based
on investment-banking experien@. 114-16; 119-20) —but the fact remains that they were
anything but objective ones. MoreovBgction 4(d) calls for a fee consistent with transactions
of “similar size and complexity where there are twefioancial advisors,{(Engagemernitetter

8 4(d)), but the fee run performed by Stone Key didexsndistinguish between singkedvisor
and coadvisor feesandit is impossible to tell how complex eaafansaction in the fee rumas,
never mind what the relationship between the banker and client was or how much work the
banker had performed on the dedbe€Tr. 90; PX113, at 13).

On top of that, at best, a “fee run” yields only a range of fees, and fixing on a “mutually
acceptable” fee within that range would plainly have required further negotéand agreement.
Stowelltestified,for example, that the final fee would havesbénegotiated based on [the
complexity or amount of time and energy [the bank] put[s] into a transaction.” (Tr. 351). And
McVeigh concurred, explaining thathether and where to fix a fegthin the feerun range
would have ben*“a function of [a] business negotiation” between the bank and company. (Tr.
433). Given all of that, it is not surprising that Urfireimself characterized the Partial Sale
Transaction fee provision in deposition testimony as an “agreement to agred’gethaps

without understanding the legal implications of that characteriza{g®]r. 95-96), or that
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Hubbardused the same wordsan email to Monster regarding a draft of the Engagement
Letter. (DX-126, at 1(“The attached Engagement Letter and Retainer Amendment have been
updated to reflectie‘agreement to agreen a fee for all transactions other thasade of the
entire company.”)). Nor is it surprising that Stone Key’s own calculation ottifis owed
for the JobKorea transactions morphed dramatically between its initial deméitd énal
litigation position. (Tr. 99, 1008; DX-117; Urfirer Aff. 11130-43). Urfirer and Hubbard may
not have been using the term “agreement to agree” in a legal sense, but their chai@tserizat
were nonetheless apt. Put simply, “it is evident that the parties expected tateegoti
additional fee arrangement at a later date and declined to define [Stonedéeyfsgte
compensation package at the time of contracting.The compensation clause therefore is
indefinite and unenforceable agormal contract, as a matter of lanBeneventp1993 WL
126424, at *7-8accordGEM Advisors667 F. Supp. 2d at 326.

Cowen & Co., LLC v. Fiserv, Inc31 N.Y.S. 3d 494 (N.Y. App. Div. 2016), upon which
Stone Key principally relies (Docket No. 22- does not call for a different result. Qowen the
First Department held that a transaction fee was not an unenforceable agreement thexgree w
it required the parties to “work in good fdittoward a fee that was “consistent wittvestment
banking industry practice for transactions of comparable complexity, level of arsalgsssze.”
Cowen 31 N.Y.S. 3d at 495-96The Court found that the fee was sufficiently definite because it

could “be ascertained from public price indices and industry practidedt 496. InCowen

9 Stone Key might have had a claim éprantum merujtsee Beneventd 993 WL 126424,
at *5 (“[1]f the contract is unenforceable due to indefiniteness, the party seeking to dmorce t
compensation clause may be entitled to recovergquaatum meruibasisthe reasonable value
of services rendereq, but Stone Keyexplicitly dropped itgguantum meruiclaim beforetrial

and thus has waived any such argume8teDocket No. 83, at 2).
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however, the parties had engaged in a pre-litigation course of conduct that signededeadr
over how to conduct a fee run and where they would have set th8deadat 495, 497
(describing that the parties had discussed a 1% fee for the potential transact&olamnded
fee runs and that “[a]t no time did defendant object to plaintiff's approach”). By sintra
Monster and Stone Key never discussed a fealdae how to calculate a fee, for JobKorea |
until Stone Key made its February 2017 demand. (DX-117; Yates Aff.  52). And, as discussed
above, the record here is replete with evidence that conducting a fee run dmtati®f
subjective choices- andis not guided by “fixed and invarialjlstandards in the investment
banking industry.Beneventp1993 WL 126424, at *{internal quotation marks omitted)n any
event,even ifCowenwere on point, it is not bindingeg e.g, C.I.R. v. Boscls Estate 387 U.S.
456 (1967)“[I]n diversity cases . . . while the decrees of lower state courts should be edtribut
some weight[,] the decision is not controlling where the highest court of then&tatmt spoken
on the point.(internal quotation markand dterations omitted) and the Court would decline to
rely on it, as the First Department gave no comatttnto eitherthe subjective choices that
underlie a fee run or the negotiations requfgdarties tdix upon a fee even afteompleting
the feerun.

In sum, although the completion of Stone Key’s engagement does not, by itself, preclude
its claim for fees relating to JobKorea I, that claim fails for at least two reasoasisbdabe
transaction did not qualify as a Partial Sale Transactionnititie meaning of the Engagement

Letter and because the relevant fee provision is an unenforceable agreementb agree.

10 In light of that conclusion, the Court need not and does not reach Monster’s other
arguments for rejection of Stone Key’s claim relating to JobKoreanamely, that JobKorea |

did not qualify as a “Partial Sale Transaction” because it was not even a “Transactiom’that
meaning of the Engagement Letter; that Stone Key waived any right to payment wheedt elec
not to seek a fee for several years; that because Stone Key was not Monster’s exclusive advisor
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C. Expenses

Stone Key’s final claim is for reimbursement ofotgt-of-pocket expensgairsuant to
Section 5 of the Engagement Leftehich providesthatMonster will reimburse “all oubf-
pocket expenses reasonably incurred, invoiced and documented . . . in connection with Stone
Key's rendering its services under this AgreemeriEfigagemenitetter 8 5). Wisely, Monster
does not ontest (and certainly does not seriously contest) that Stone Key is eotsie@é such
reimbursement. Qef.’s PCL Respons#f 143-48). Instead, the only dispute is whether Stone
Key is entitled to al$47,339.01n expenses that it claims. The Court concludes that it is not for
the simple reason that those expenses include some that predated the signing of #radtngag
Letter on April 20, 2012, and some that postdated the completion of the engagement by August
1, 2013. PX-111, at 2PX-114). Admittedly, Stone Key’s work on the strategic review began
several weeks before the Engagement Letter was sigRed22, at 2). Section 5, however,
does not provide for reimbursement of expenses incurred beforedhgdinent Letter was
signed. Instead, by its terms, it provides for reimbursement only of expenses reasonaiglg incu
“under” the Engagement Letter and, as Stone Key conceded during oral argument, the
expenses incurred before the agreement was signaft€oit was completed) could ndty
definition, have been incurred “under” the agreeme8ee(r. 479). Excluding those items, and
mindful that Monster did not contest the reasonableness of Stone Key’s allegesksx e
Court finds thaMonsterowes Stone Key $37,267.%60r the out-of-pocket expenses Stone Key

incurred under thEngagement Lette(PX-114).

and Monster negotiated JobKorea | independently, the transaction is outside the amabit of t
Engagement Lett; and thatbecause Stone Key was not the procuring cause of JobKorea |, it
cannot seek compensation the transaction (Def.'s PCL 1 5770).
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Further, theCourt concludes that Stone Key is owed prejudgment interest on those
expenses from the date of Stone Kegriginal invoice— namely, February 13, 2017. “Under
CPLR 5001, interest on a sum awarded as a result of a breach of contract is computied fro
earliest date that the claim accruet\ML Capital v. Republic of Argentin852 N.E.2d 482,

486 (N.Y. 2011). “In contract actions, . . . a claim generally accrues at the time of the breach.”
Hahn Auto. Warehouse, Inc. v. Am. Zurich Ins, 867 N.E.2d 1187, 119N(Y. 2012) see

also Reid v. Inc. Vill. of Floral Parl067 N.Y.S.2d 135, 136 (N.Y. App. Div. 2013) (“Where the
claim is for the payment of a sum of money allegedly owed pursuant to a contraatjseet
action accrues when the plaintiff possesses a legal right to demand payniphf.fen the

right to final payment is subject to a condition, the obligation to pay arises and thetaus
action accrues, only when the condition has been fulfilléthhn Auto. Warehouse, In€@67
N.E.2d at 119XquotingJohn J. Kassner & Co. v. City BfY, 46 N.Y.2d 544, 550 (1979)).
Under the Engagemebetter, Monstes obligation to reimburse Stone Key for its out-of-pocket
expenses was conditioned only on Stone’&&gquest for payment of those expensesee
Engagementetter85). Stone Keys claim for reimbursenm of its expenses thus accrued on
the day it rendered a request for reimbursemetthatis,on February 13, 2017, the date of its
first invoice. Stone Key is therefore entitled to 9% interest on itebpbcket expenses as of
that date See, e.gHarbinger F&G, LLC v. OM Grp. (UK) LtdNo. 12€CV-5315 CRK), 2015
WL 1334039, at *35 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 18, 2015) (applying New York law to conclude that the
plaintiff's breachof-contract claim accrued . .when it senfthe defendantihe final written

demand for paymefjt
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Court concludes that Stone Key failed to carry its
burden to show that Monster breached the terms of the Engagement Letter by tefpaing
Stone Key fees in connection with JobKorea I, JobKorea I, or the Randstad Transaction. In
particular, the Court holds, first, that Stone Key’s engagement had ended by August 1, 2013,
thereby precluding any claim for fees arising out of JobKorea Il or the Randstadchiams
and second, that Stone Key is not entitled to a fee for JobKorea I, even though th&dransac
occurred during the tail period, because the transaction did not qualify asial ‘Pad
Transaction” and because the fee provision is an unenforceable agreement to agree.
Accardingly, Monster is entitled to judgment on Stone Key'’s first three claimscoBirast,
with respect to its fourth claim, Stone Key did prove that it is entitled to $37,267.5€ doit-
of-pocket expenses, plus 9% prejudgment interest as of February 13, 2017.

The parties shall confer amih later than two weeks from the date of this Opinion
and Order, file an agreediponproposed judgment consistent with this Opinion and Order.

The Clerk of Court is directed to terminate @Y-3851, Docket Nos. 55 and 61.

SO ORDERED.

Date August 10, 2018
New York, New York /JESSE URMAN

United States District Judge
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